THE STORY OF THE INDIANA INTERCHURCH CENTER,
TWENTY-FIFTH ANNIVERSARY

Ecumenical agencies in Indiana pricr to 1960 had lived in
rented guarters. For forty-eight years, from its founding in
1312, the Indianapolis Church Federaticn was at home in the
Downtawn YMCA EBuilding. The Indiama Ccuncil of Churches,
founded in 1543, had offices in a building at 1130 North Alabama.

Exploration of the idea of a comprehensive center to house
these agencieé and denominational offices began in the late
Fifties but "did nzt jell" (letter from Harold Duling, Z1 Aug &2
of the Lilly Endcwment). The Federaticn had begqun seeking new
quarters in 13S€, in part to house its expanding pragram in
research and planning. Three years later, with a grant of
$75,000 from the Lilly Endowment, the Federation purchased a
residential praoperty at 162& North Meridian. It was remcdeled to
became the cffices of the Indiana Caouncil of Churches as well and
on September 25, 1960 the building was dedicated as The Inter-
Church Center. It alsa housed anm Urban Ministry Center and the
Indiana office of CROP.

The idea of a more comprehensive ecumenical center was not
long daormant. The coming of the Inter-State Highway into the
center of Indianapolis was the material cause for the revival of
interest. The United Presbyterian Synod of Indiana was to laose
its office ta the highway. A letter from Victeor Frisch to
Grover Hartman, Executive Secretary of the Indiama Council of
Churches, on April Z7, 1361 got the idea back on the agenda.
Frisch, the President of the Board of Trustees of the Synad of

Indiana, United Presbyterian Church in the USA, was transmitting



the action of his Board asking far a response from denominations
and ecumenical agencies to its proposal to explore the
establishment of an inter-church center.

There was sufficient interest and on January 31, 13z
representatives of five dénominatians (United Presbyterian, the
Episcopal Diccese, the Indiama Area of the Methodist Church, the
United Church of Christ, the Indiana Synad of the United Lutheran
Church), the Church Federation and fhe'Indiané Council of
Churches, met for lunch at tﬁe Columbia Club. They established a
Committee of Exploration with Grover Hartman as chairperson.

The Committee first met on May 23, 136& at the Atherton
Center cn the Eutler Campus. Representatives from the
Association of Christian Churches of Indiana had joined the group
as well as two persons from Christian Theological Seminary. Wit%
Hartman baoth acting chairperson and recorder the Committee gﬁt
down to wérk.

They set June 27 for their next meeting and after a two
month’s summer recess began meeting monthly or oftener. G,
Harald Duling of the Lilly Endowment accepted an invitation teo
join the committee. By March 4, 1963, the ULC had become thé
Indiana-kKentucky Bynod of the.Lutheran ChurcH in America and had
withdrawn. |

Three tasks were assigned: Dr. Harms was to correspond with
Centers elsewhere to learn of their experiences; Victor Frisch,
Alfred Portecus, Marcus Kendall and Don Davidson were to look at
space needs and facilities; Ivan Gwaltney, Jerrus Bryant, Byron

Stroh and Doyle Zaring were to explore passibie sites.
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The Committee oﬁ Exploration sconm had plans ready for a
not-for-profit corporaticn to plan the building, decide up=n a
site, raise funds, own and administer the buildinag. THe new
corparaticon held its first annual meeting in January, 1365,
elected Lester Irons president, launched a financial campaign, by
©June 19&8& héd signéd a building contract and broke ground July
17, 13€€. Irans, President of the Cﬁurch Federaticn of Greater
Indiamapolis at that time, was an Indianapolis attorney, a member
of the United Metho&ist Church and was to remain President cof the
Board of the Infer;hurch Center until 1981 or, as he is
rememhered ta= have said, "until it is out of debt."

Why an Interchurch Center and Why NewT

The religicus arguments supporting the establishmenttaf an
‘Interchurch Center were well.summarized in a development dzcument
publisted in Qctober, 1366. Intended to raise money for the
Center it contained architectural drawings and cérried the
endorsements «f Methodist Bishop, Richard Raines, United Church
af Christ Conference Minister, Dr. Harry Bredeweg, Indiana
Disciples Executive Secretary, Dr. Jghn Harms, Presbyterian Syncod
Executive, Dr. John Fox, Indiana Council of Churches Director,
Dr. Grover Hartman and Indianapolis Church Federation Executive,
Dr. Lawrnce T. Huosie.

The document presented the following‘rationale fof the
project. The Center will be "An eleoquent witness to the unity.
which God has given to the churches in Indiama and which sinful
man cannot take away." It "will provide an opportunity whereby
the spirit and practice of cooperation to which the communicns

are now committed may be nurtured.”" "The pfocess of long range
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planning among Praotestant and Orthedex-Catholic cohmuniqns can be
immeasurably strengthened" at the same time providing "for as
much separateness within the Christian fellowship as the
denominaticns wish to maintain." The Center will he "A symbol of
inner uwnity and the freedom of conscience and actiaon." “However, |
another compelling reasaon ié the higher level of denominatiznal
stewardship that is represented in the pooling of &osts that is
pxssible in such a project.”

Material arguments included the needs of several
denominaticons to relaocate their offices. Already noted was the
United Présbyterian need for a new place. At least six other
denominations were in varicous stages of merger and would be
establishing mew offices in the state, Adding urgency were the
Disciples' plan to build a new building of their own in Irvingtaon
and the word that Christian Theological Seminary had three and a
half acres available on its campus for an Inter—bhurch Center.

The Site

The Site Committee had considered seven locations from State
Highway 100 on the East to Lowe’s Theatre dﬁwntown, some
réquiring a new structure and cthers extensive remadeling. One
of the more interesting sites was several acres atvthe corner of
Meridian and Farty-sixth Street cwned by First Babtist Church.
That corner has since become part of the grounds of the Indiana
Governor's Mansion. The decisicn to come to the corner of Farty-
Secand Street and Michigan Road was sealed by the acticn on
November &, 13968 of thevTrustees of Christian Thezlecgical

Seminary to grant the land toc the Interchurch Center Corporation



N a ninety-nine year renewable lease at one daollar a year.

The City of Indianapolis later agreed to widen Forty-second
Street between Michigan Rcad and Haughey Avenue and completed the
wark in 1971,

Arguments for the site included the accessibility =f the
semirary’'s research and planning lab, its TV facilities, its
library, chapel and meeting rwoms., Haveld Duling with arants
from the Lilly Endowment was encouraging cooperaticon Setween the
seminary, the Church Federation and the Council in the areas of
research and planning, television producticn and couhseling
programs in public instituticns throughout the city.

Whose on Board?

Getting the denominatimns cfficially signed on took most of
the year, 1963. FBoth the Council and the Federaticn had
approved participaticon in the project by Fall Df 1962, The
Indiana Synod of the United Presbyterian Church, USA had given
its backing.

There was reluctance on the pért of some. Warren Davis
reported for the Episcopalians that no ward had come from
Bighop Craine and "he knew a selling job will have to be done
because some Episcopalians feel enteving a ‘center’ would blur
the denomimaticnal image . (B Feb &£3)." They alsa felt tied to
their Sherwond House offices on Meridi#n Street. Other
denominticons were in variocous stages of merger negotiations and a
decision to join the 1Interchurch Center added complicatians.
Nevertheless, all denaominaticonal executives were invited to the
next meeting and a Proposed Plan of Drganizaticn was pfesented.

By May, 19683, the hewly formed Indiama-Kentucky Synod of the
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United Cﬁurch of Christ reaffirmed the acticn =f the Evangelical
and Refoarmed Church Synod and thé Congregaticonal and Christian
Churches Canference and voted full participation in the project.
The Assocciation of Christian Churches in Indiana had veoted to
Join. The three Conferences of the Methodist Church of Indiana
als> "approved, in pfinciple, the proposed Interchurch Center.”
This brought, signed and sealed, it seemed, four densmifaticns
and the two ecumenical bodies with their fimamcial commitment
intz the project. All had designated their three Trusfees to an
Interchurch Center Board. Lester Ircns was asked to draw up
incarpurat;on papers and bylaws with the assistarice of John
Harms.

Launching the Craft -

Qctaober 1€, 13962 was an historic day for the develapment of
the Indiana Interchurch Center. ~Its Board of D;rectaré met for
the first time. It was announced that inc@rpmratimn papers had
been filed with the State of Indiana. It electea a slate aof
ﬁfficers. Agreement with Christian Theological Seminary was
reached with appraximately four and a half acres available for a
I9-year renewable lease. A contract with the architecturél firm
of Wright, Portecus and Lowe was voted on motion of Dr. J.
Kenneth Forbes, Methodist, and DanaldASmith, Disciple, tha "casts
to be shared equally by the four interésted denominaticens up %o
the completicn of preliminary plans.™

The afficers elected to lead the néw corporation we?e lLester
Irzns, Chairman, John W. Harms, vice?chairman, Ludwig Burck,

secretary, and Fermor S. Cannop, treasurer. Grover Hartman was



made executive secretary and resident agent of the corparation.
Additicnal members of the Executive Committee were J. kKenneth
Farbes, Meivin R. Phillips and Beaufard-A. Novris. Harry Bredeweg
had chaired the Nominating Committee.

Roungh Waters

But the crew was was restless and to be tested in the rough
waters ahead. 1364 was the year of crisis. The financial
thallenge =f raising more than $ED0,0DO for the buildiné was
rattling their nerves. The obligaticns of the qenominatians were
not yet clear. Nor were annual aperation costs and the réntal
fees required to meet those costs at all firm.

Even before the end of 1963 Methadists had expressed their
uncertainty about praceseding with the building plams. Thé
fullowingvMarch the Cabinet of the Indiana Area of tHE Methodist
Chuvch repuorted to the Interchurch Centér Enard that they were
termimating their relaticnship with the Interchurch Center
project. Harms, Fox and Bredeweg were sent to ﬁegotiate with
Bishop Raines.

The Methaodists countered with a proposition and at a_meeting
an September 10, 1364 Bishop Raimes restated the Methodist
positiaon. They wanted primar} responsibility and contrial to ke .
with the four dencminaticons. They wanted clarification on the
added caosts fram housing the two ecumenical agéncies iﬁ’the
building. They wanted tao re-examine tﬁe matter of the architect.
And, they-wanted tm insure "that the wisdem and experienc; of
business men were brought to bear in the shaping a; the plans for
financing and operating of the building."”

The Cammittee respmnded by providing that there be three



members =n the Board of the Corporation from each denamination.
_twm fram the Indiama Council and the Church Federation, and one
from Christian Theological Seminmary. Five business men were
appointed tao :tudy the plans and financing: Ludwig Burck, United
Church of Christ and vice-president <f INB; Fermor S. Camneon,
United Presbyterian and president «f Railraadmahs; Harry Helweg,
later replaced by Donald S@ith, Disciple, lawyer and CPA; Alex
Taggart III, Methodist and president of Colonial Raking Cdmpany.
This review committee gave its "QkK" to the pfaposal by Noveﬁber and
reaffirmed it at a meeting on Januwary 22, 13€5

Facing up to Finances

Dencminational executives were taking the lead and a
financing formula was taking shape. " The four denominations and
tQa ecumenical agencies waould be "Equity Members” and contribute
10,000 each. In addition they wouid be>expécted,to supply
“"Warrant Capital” out of their investments according to their
ability on which they waould receive interest at the current rate.
This might possibly bring the total commitments to $700,000 and
plans were begun to raise the remainder from foundations,
individuals and cqrporations.

The Council of Churches had no capital reserves on which it
coiild draw so wonld be excused from the warrant capital
obligation but the Federation héld title tao the Inter-Church
Center office ﬁroperty on Meridian Street. . The Lilly Endowhgnt'
had said returns from sale of that proberty could be made
available to the mnew Interchiurch Center project which would cover

the Federaticon’s commitment.



In February, 1965 an agreement was signed with FrénE'K. Zzll
of Andersan to assist the Corporation in a capital funds campaign 
tz raise $350;OOD. Z2]ll was a United Presbyterian 1$yman and
well known fund raiser in Indiana. A “Committeg of B00Q" was
proposed and Matthew Welsh, Disciple layman and former Gaovernor,
agreed to chair the campaign .committes along with fa}mer.Lt.
Gavernor Richard 0. Ristine as ca-chair. The kick-off was
hailed as "Meet the Governors" luncheon aon May 17, 1955'at the
Indianap2lis Athletic Club with invitations to the reiagning
governar, Bramnigan, and eight other former governors and
lieutenant governors.

A mznumental effort to enlist cmntributﬁrs included meetiﬁg5'
at fifteen centers over the state. More than SEO volunteers'were
enlisted with chairpersons in aver 120 communities. At the same
time, approaches to foundations were vigorously pursued.

Pledges from congregaticons and individuals, totaling €203, 380,
came from every part of Indiana. Mzst of the 3239 pledges were
in modest amounts. Foundation pledges included.$50,000 fram the
Irwin Miller family of Columbus, 20,000 fram the Lilly
Endowment of Indianapolis and 35000 from the Rall Foundation of
Mumcie. Later an additianal $25,000 came from the Krésge
Foundaticn.

The Broard was precccupied during 1965 anﬁ garly iSEG with
the financial campaign and.witﬁ refining the building plans. The
general layout of space, size of common service areas, 1uca£ion
o f variaus-affices were discussed. The Seminary architect,
Edward Larabee Barnes, had reviswed thé preliminary arauings in

1362 and in general had given his approval but asked that "it



should not appear to be part of the Seminary." He later
"insisted that it be not more than two stories or 24 feet in
height (3 Oct 139€33.

A Time to Build

When the contractors' bids were ocpened on May 1€, 1366, the
lowest totaled $1,030,134, one hundred thousand D;ET estimates.
Architectural and campaign expenses added ancther $100,000 in
cxsts. The financial campaign was lagging with pledges of anly
%166, 115 in hand. With %700,000 committed by the denominations,
Council and Federation it was clear that nearly anothef $300, 000
had tz be found. The Bzard authorized seeking a loan "not
auceeding $500,000 at &% interest” ?rﬁm the Indiana National
" Bank. Also, the Board terminated the contract with Mr. Zcoll.

The crew remained resolute and voted tﬁ sign the building
contracts and break ground on July 17, 136&. At its June
meeting the Board had vated to require an egual job apportunity
commitment from all cantractors. Alsc at the June meeting the
denominatisnal executives were ask to come up with a plan &
raise $290,DGO. Dr. Harry EBredeweg, UCC executive, became chaivr
of the Cémpaign Committee.

The Boavd then elected aone of its own members, Jervrus M.
Eryvant, to be its Executivé'Director. He latev become Executive
Secratary and Building Manager. Bryant was a member of the
Evangelical and Reformed Church and had served on its Board of
National Missions. He had juét retired as Chief Engineer of tﬁe
Linkbelt Caorporaticon. He was to be paid "that which he can

receive under Scocial Security restrictions, plus expenses." The



salary was then set at $1500 per annum, plus expenses and
profegsional fees. He was to expedite the financial caﬁpaign and
wark with the building committee. Throughout the development
phase of the project Mrs. King on the Indiana Council of
Churches’ étaff served as boﬂﬁkaeper.

The fimancial campaign received several Emosts. The four
densminations agreed eacH to add $37,300 to the Warrant Capital
This assured the kresge Faundation grant of $25,000, A-memorial
gift for Bishop Reuben H. Millér, fir;t Bishaop of the Indiana
Area of the new United Methodist Church, in the amount. of $10,000
underwrote a conference room. The largest single ;ontribution
was anncunced in Septembey, 1368 when the Hrannert‘s agreed to -
contribute $100,000 to memofialize the Assembly Roﬁm._

In the meantime the building was under canstr;;tian and two
major deraminations exﬁressed renewed interest in the Center.

The Indiamapolis Diccese of the Episcopal Church aecided-tu leave
Sherwood House and asked to be included. The Synod of the
Lutheran Church in America said it was unﬁertaking a study
regarding a new site for am office. A wing was added to the
building plans and the Episcopalians became an equity member with
a Warrant Capital investmant of $14D,OOO. The Lutherans were
invited to consider taking equity membership and invest $100,000
in Warrant Capital. AftEV mare than a year, they decided to
remain where they were.

Indiana Ecumenism’s New Dwelling Place

While the addition of the wing remained under discussion,
the first unit of the building was being made ready for its new

owrners and temants. July 5, 1967 was moving day. The
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Interchurch Center Board and its committees had a mew address and
its own megting place with(dining and conference rooms., The
following April, 1968, the added wing was ready and the Episcopal
Church maved in. Five dencminaticons, several the result of
recent unicons and reunions, and two ecumenical bodies had moved
in together, with adequate space for each. To this day, they

remain the Eguity Members, trustees and stewards of the praperty.

Financial Challenge, Again?

The deadline was appﬁaaching‘fgr paymeﬁt cof the $500, 000 2n
the note with INB. Extensions of the loan decreed that rents
wzuld have to be raised. The Council, which livés largely from
denominaticnal gifts, did not have funds to pay the increased
rent, and urged that a new finance campaign be "mounted at cnce.™
CMemo ta the Finance Committee of the Indiana Interchurch Center,
fram the Indiana Council of Churches, March.l, 13&88.)

The R. H. Boettler and Associates of Columbus, Bhio was
hired to direct a'ﬂne million dollar "long term campaign.” Lynn
Harry would EE the on-site directer. - Lyman Ayres agreed to serve
as anarary Chair and Francis Hugheé was to be General Chairman.
The proposed aperating budget aof the newvlnterchurch Center for
13969  came to $68,319. There were, in addition, interest-payments
=n the Bank Note and warranf Capital of $5f,944 and Campaign
custs'of $40, 000 o be paid.

Within a year it was clear the "long term campaign" was ﬁmt
warking. The costse had far exceeded the incame, insufficient>
numbers a% volunters had been recruited and the "big maney" from

the Indianap=slis area was nat forthcoming, Several thousand
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square feet of space was still available for rental. Because
athe} religicus fenants-were nct making commitments az had been
‘hoped and the Church Federation wanted to return 1723 squére feet
of space which had housed the Research and Planning Department,
the Board voted ¢o rent space to non-church groups (20 Jul 700,

The Equify Members, in addition to their original |
contributions of Warvant Capital, by the end of 1970 had invested
an additicnal $388,453 in Debenture Warrants. 0One year later through
the help of returns on cahpaign pledges but largely because. three
Eguity Membars, THe Episcopal, United Church of Christ and United
Presbyterian, had assumed $2B4,230 of the debt in debeﬁtures; the-
Interchurch Center was free of bank indebtedness.

A1l denominatiznal agencies were tightening their belts.

The Asscciation of Christian Churches had cuf'ifs staff in half
and notified the Center Board that it was considering jumping ship
unless it were permitted to cut back on space and be relieved of
about half its rental costs, The entire second floor of th;,
new wing was unfinishea and unfilled rental sﬁace was proving a
drag =n apefating budget and debt retirement.

An aggressiye leasihg policy was édapted_in 1372 and with
the caming =f the Salvaticn Army intoc the new wing the problem
was somewhat alleviated. By the end of 1973-thirteen tenénts,
beyond the éeveh Equity members where occupying the building.

A year later it was noted that the tws previcous financial
campaigns had netted $354,306 and in 1975 tﬁe Lilly ;ndawment‘
made two grants af $50,000, one outright and another matching
toward debt reduction, The deEt was down to $122,849 and was

cwed entirely to the United Presbyterian and United Church of



Christ members of the Corparation.

An additiconal boost waé the contributicn of 10,000 by the
Gemmer Faoundation to memorialize the tower and cross. On June
20, 1975 the Gemmer-Hartman Peace Pylon was dedicated. - Rent
that year was charged at the rate of $9.897 which was adeguate
to cover costs of operatian, interest and payments on the debt.
The fimancial waters were natably calmer aﬁd Juoggling finances
woild consume less of the time of the Board.

At the Annual Meeting, 1375 of the Corporation Harry Bredeweg
nxted that the building was starting its ninth year and was
shaowing signs of wear and tear. He suggested that the Board
initiate a Replacement Fund as an annual budgeted line item. = - Ten
vears later it was renamed "The Capital Replacement Fund" with a
gzal of $200,000, Careful financial management and the wise use
of the‘Fund haslpermitted the Center tao meet recurring replacement
needs as well as to undertake projects to modernize and update
its facilities.

A Working Board

Tenant-swnership has been a.key to the success of the
Interchurch Center. Those who rent and use the building each
day are also its owners. The five denocminations and two
ecuménical bodies have invested heavily to bring thé Center to
its present status. Their fepresentatives, imcluding their
executive officers, constifute the owning and governiﬁg board.
They have seen to it that their facilities ére adaguate and
efficient.

The warking board has functicned with fouwr working
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gommittees: Finance, Personnel, Nnmiﬁating and House, They are
often chaired by staff of the agencies whz work in the Center.
One early decision was that there would be no rank displayed

in the naming and assigning of parking spaces. The Board and its

committees have been czncerned with everything from "black fumgus on

the flowering trees" to the lmcafion =of light switches and the
consarvation of energy. This latter was of special concern
during the ermerqy crunch of 1377 and evening meetings were
canceled under ﬁressure from the Citizens Gas anmd Coke Utility.
Energy conservation has remained on the agenda throughout the
years.

At -the end of ten years it was. annzunced that "all availablé
space in the building" was filled with a‘tatal =f twenty-five
tenants. The use of the conference rooms had doubled. The
Presbyterians had installed a printinmg facility which uasrbeing
shared among the tenants. (16 Nav 7&)

Some thought was given to changing the pame to the Indiana
Interfaith‘Center but after "considerable discussion" it was
dropped (16 Nov 78). All were delighted when the United States
Paztal Service agreed to brinmg mail tao the tenants’ offices inm
1?78. The same year the Board voted to make the Center an
emergency shelter far the Red Cross (13 Dec 78?.

The Board decided in 1373 to “5t0p>having two classes of
tenants and to charge the same rate for all" (7 May .733. The
fallowing year, with the indebitedness at $1;D,4SO, it was agreed
the debt be assumed by the equity members on the basis of the
square feet then assigned tao th;m and be considered warrant

capital (20 June B8OV,
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Lester Irons retired from the presidency of the Eoard
at the end éf 1980. He had led the Intevchurch Corporation
throughout its first fourteen years. J. Kenneth Forbes was
elected his successar. Farbes was Ewecutive Assistant to the
Bishaop =f the Indiana Area of the United Methodist Church.

Other presidents have heen Ralph Quellhaorst, United Church of
Christ Conference Minister, John McCune, Assocciate Synod
Executive of the Pfesbyterian Church, arnd David Fees, Lutheran
layman and, like his predecessosr Irons, is an attarney aﬁd
sarves as president of the Indiama Cowncil of Churches;

When Jervrus Bryant asked to be refired from the poéition o f
Exerutive Directior and Building Manager the search committee
found ancther United Chqvch of Christ layman, Earl -Wilson, té
succeed him. Wilson was a native of Indianapalis but had besn
warking prior to his'retirement as the Associate Director in the
Program Divigion of the United States Department of Agriculture
im Washington, D. C. Mot unmtil 1985 was it decided tao emplay &a
full-time building manager. EBernice Foster began work in
Naovember 1985 and 1eft in the Spring of 1987.te jJoin her husband
in retirement in Flarida. Her successar; Garlene Hatlkamp;
came with extensive experience in prpperty management., Since
1988 she has heen Executive-Diréctor of the Corporation.  Under
her direction, extensive remodling and redgcurating have been
undertaken. The Center hés become a more complete conference
facility az well as an attractive and convenient office for the

itenants.



Where We Have Come

Many of the dreams of the founders of the Indiana
Interchurch Center have been realized.>' Some who had a part in
its founding are today at wdrk in the Center. One of those,
Bishop Leroy C. Hodapp of the Indiana Area of the United Methmdist
Churech, believes that "ecumenical work and ministry in Indiana
has been strengthened and enhanced by the fact that so many of us
wark in the same surraundings, and cur s=taffs . . . sha?e =2 much
in comman. "

There is recogniticon that the Interchurch Center represents:

only & poviion of the ecumenical community. Nevertheless it
remaine a witness to the unity of the church. There is
disappﬁintment that the.Eenter has not functioned mﬁre fuily as &
catély%t for ecumenical cooperation. Working in the same
building has nzt inm itself resulted in ecumenical strategizing.
However, there is agreement that the Center is an expressicon of
finantial stewardship on the part of its equity members. It has !

facilitated the wark of each member and its twenty-five years
have demonstrated it is possible and beneficial for Christians of

diverse denominaticons to dwell together..
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Christian Theuolzogical Seminary, files of Grover Hartmam in the
affice of the Indiama Council of Churches, copies of the Indiana
Councilor and minutes of the Board of Dirvectars and Standing
Eommittees of the Indiana Interchurch Center. John Fox read an
early draft and suggested some additions and changes in emphasis
at certain pointes. I alsa had a lengthy and helpful telephone
conversation with Earl Wilson. | In writing the last paragraphs I
consulted with the heads of the Equity Tenants, some of whom have
been part of the Interchurch Center from the beginning.

Edwin L. Becker

Indianapcolis, Indiama .
14 Oct 1331 ICC
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